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Portez~Phelps-Huntington House, looking north west, 1%39.
Portez~-Phelps-Huntington House, view looking scuth west,
showing barxn, chalse house, and sheds, takenm August 1929,
Chalse house and sheds, taken prior to 1928.

Chalse House and Corn Barn, 1989,

Barn, chaise house, and south poction of sheds, taken
prior to thelr removal and recomstruction of 1928-19)0.
South and ecast elevations of chalse house., Probably taken
in 1929, atter the reconstruction of the sheda and prlox
to the demclition of the chalse house.

West elevation of the chalse house, taken prior to 1926.
View leoking scuth west, of woodshed and north elevation
of chalse house, Taken October 1928,

Tisbers fzom oziginal chalse house, zeused in 1930 Chalse
House basement.

Stall taken from the original chalise house, now in the
Hadley Fa:m Museunm,

Poasible stall doors, found in woodshed attic.

North wall of the Corn Barn, 1989, This was left intact
when the structure to the south was cebullt in 19286,
Noxth end of Coxn Barn rxcof, showing oxliginal ridgepole
extending through from the woodshed.

View looking north east, shows the east elevatlion of
chalse house and south bent of woodshed, now the north
bent of the exialting Corn Barn. Taken October 1928,
South bent of woodshed/north bent of Corn Barn.

Taken October 1928, after the sheds were torn down.

West (xear) elevation of the sheds, taken prior to 1926,
East wall of Corn Bazn (noxth end), ahowing coriginal
siding where 1t was reattached by Dr. Humtington after the
Corn Barn was rebullt,

South end of woodshed attic, ahowing original framing.
West wall of “"plne rooa™ in the Porter-Phelpa~NHuntington
House, showing panels made In 1965, from wood

salvaged from the sheds, when they were demolished.

View locking west, with woodshed at the right and chalse
house at the left, taken October 1928,

Corn Barn doorxs, 1589.

Rear (west) elevation of the Corn Bazn, 1989.

Corn Barn roof framing, view facimg scuth.

Frame of north sxch door, as recomstructed Iin 1928.

West wall of Corm Barn, showing balloon frame.

Chalse House, east elevation, 19893,

Chalse House, south elevation, 19589,

Chalse House, scuth and west elevations, 1989.

Corm Barm and Chaise Nouse, west (rear) elevation, 1989,
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Cclose wp view of porch at north west corner of Chalse
Nouse, 1989,

Chalse House fromt door.

Chalse Mouse stalircase.

Chaise House living room, fireplace wall (west wall).
South west corner of living room.

tiving room door, In north wall.

Dining reom- door in south wall and window In east wall-
typical of those throughout Chalse House,

foards reused frem original chalse house, seen in living
room floor and stalr treads,

South east corner of living room, showing exposed franing
teused from orlginal chalse house.

Exposed fxaming in living room.

Viewv of cellar under shed portion of Chalse House, showing
unhewn post, posalbly used orlginally as support under
gear of sheds. The girt supported by It is also reused,
bat exhibits the maczkas of a clercular saw.

Clese up of clrcular sawn bean, reused a3 & girt under the
reconstructed sheds of 1928,

New £flcor jolsta and subfloecring under Chalse House.

Yiew looking north from sunken garden, with Chaise Nouse
In toreground and maln house in background, taken 1932,
View lcoking nozth from sunken garden, 1989,

View looking south west from attic of maln house, showing
woodshed, Corn Bazn, and Chalae Mouase.

Taken Septesber 22, 1938, during hurzicane and £loecd.
Chaise house kitchen, showing 19%% cabinets.

Cleae up of rear (went) wall of Chaise Kouse, showing
severe palnt deterloratlion and damage to clapboards,

Rear foundation, showing moss growing om the brick.
Chalse house furnaece, 19J0, United States Radlator
Corporatlion.

Celling of south west chamber, south of the chimney,
showling atalns and crack from leakage around chimney.
Celling of upstalra hallway of Chalse House. Severe
damage Is being caused by leakage down from the attic.
Cloae up of 1iving room celling, in front of chimney,
showing stalns caused by leakage around the chimney stack.
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Map of Hadley
Map of Madley

from Arzox Siiseiman Atlas - Westexn
1983,
trom Beers Atlas, 1073,

Map of the Huntington family property from Hampahize
County Regiatry of Deeds, 1910.

Rough £looz plan of the Porter-Phelpa-Nuntingtom House,

1989.

rirat floor plan of the Chalae House, by Ellot Putnam,

1930.
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Chajiae House,
September 17,
Chaise House,
Chalise House,
Chalse House,
Chalse Kouse,

front {east) elevation, by Ellot Putnan,
1929.

silde (south) elevation, July 22, 1929.

rear (west) elevation, September 19, 1929,
side (noxth) elevatlion, September 1%, 1929.
intezior detalls of main stairway,
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INTRODUCTION

the Porter-Phelps-Huntington Foundation, Incorxporated owns and
operates the Porter-Phelps-Kuntington House Museum In MHadley,
Massachusetts. (Photogzaph 1) Home to cone famlly since its
construction in 1752, the house was opened as & museus In 1955, by
pz. James Lincoln Huntington. It is filled with famlly furnishings
and memorabilis of many generatlions and serves to Interpret the
history of this interesting family and thelr 1life in Hadley. The
Chalse House (Photograph 4), which is part of the museums complex,
presently serves as residences for the Curater, as well as an

additional temant.

in 1988, a KMistozic Structure Report examined the surviving 18th
century sectlons of the museun house. However, the Chalse House and
connected shed areas, called the "Corn Barn®, were not included. The
purpcese of this report is to document the remalnder of the museun
complex, which ls not as old, but does play an ispertant zole in the

history of the Porter-Phelps-Huntington House.

The structuzal history of the Chalise Mouse and Corn Bazn
Conaists of two distinct, but connected, perliods. (Photgraphs J & 4)
The original carriage house was erected im 1795 by Charles Phelps to
Sexve his 1752 farm house. In 17397, the two structures were
connected with a long ell, contalning a farm kitchen, wood house, and
three shed areas. (Photograph 2) These were used by several
Jenexations of the tamily, until the early 20th century, when the
Totted comdition of the atea south of the woodahed was consldered
beyond tepaiz. The original structures were dissantelled by Or.

Jazes Lincolm Muntlagton, the great great grandson of Chacles Phelps.



The southern portion of the ell, was torn down in 1928, ana
recomstructed, using some old wood, but modern constructlon
techalques, and combining the three original shed areas 1inte one toom
called "the Corn Barn.®{Photograph 30) The following year, Dr.
Wuntington took down the 1795 carrlage house and rebullt upon the
site, in 1330, conatructing & new xesidence for his family, which he
called "The Chalse House."™ This new structure Immitated the size and
shape of the original and reused much of the old wood,

(Photograph 37)

Although they were a vital part of the family's life, past
zosoa;chcza have largely overlocoked the Chalse House and Corn Barn
connected Lo the Porter-Phelps-Huntington House. Glven current
trends In historical Interpretation, it is lmsportant that the suseun
staff gain a greater underatanding of these related bulldings. The
history of the farm, along with the overall arrangement and use of
its bulldings 1s as isportant a toplc for atudy, as the house's
interior decoration and furnishings. Perhaps more lmportantly, as
the home of museum founder, Dr. James Limcoln Humtington, the
existing Chalse Nouse was an Integral part of the Porter-Phelps-
Huntington Mouse's early 20th century history. A stedy of this
Tesldence could help to Lllustrate the lifestyle of Or. Nuntington
and his famslly. Examinatlom of the structural history of the Chaise
House and connected sheds, as compared to that of the maln museus
house, might shed 1ight om Dr. Humtington's policles and practices of
Presecvation. As understanding of these elements ia vital to the
interpretation of the Porter-Phelpa-Huntington Mouse and coincides
With the current popularity of the study of the early 20th century

Colonia) Revival.



As an jmportant sectlion of the existing museum complex, the
chatse Houae and Corn Barn must be preserved for the future. The
,O,l.,.pn.;p.-uunttaqton Youndation should consider thelr
conservatlion aleng with that of the museum house. It 1s hoped that
the Fousdation and museum staff will find this document useful iIn

planaing for the future, as well as In studylng the past.

This repozt compiles what 1s known about the original chalse
nouse and comnected sheds. The existing Chalse House and Corn Bacn
structeres are then examined to determine what portion of the old
saterlal was reused and how closely the original lines were followed.
the conversions of 1928 to 1930, as well as subsequent alterations,
are documented., Current conditions are studied and recommendations

made for future use and consecvation.



NISTORY OF tHE PORTER PHELPS WUNTINGTON HOUSE AND FAMILIES
To atwdy the evolution of the Chalse House and Cotn Bacn, thelr
context within the history of the Porter Phelps Nuntington House and

famillies must flrat De undecstood.

Moses Porter

The aite, along the Connecticut River, two miles from the center
of Hadley (Maps 1 & 2), was part of the common land when the town was
lald out im 1659. Over the years, much of the area was acquired by
the wealthy Pocter famlly and in 1752, Moses Porter chose to bulld a
mnew home on his share of the estate. The house must have been quite
imgressive In its day and although it was almost completely covered
over by later alterations, the 1988 Historic Structure Report shed
Light on its origlnal appearance. It was a two and a half story
pitched roof structure with four zooms on each floor and a central
hallway. The exterior was quite vermacular in its Interpretatlion of
popular styles. It displayed a very early use of rusticated wood
siding, covered with red sanded palnt and "Joints*® outlined in white
to resemble mortar. Thls treatment ia unique in its combination with
hewn overhangs om all four sides of the house. Moses Porter was able
to enjoy his new home for only a short time. In 1755, he was killed
While fighting In the French and Indian Wac.



charles Phelps

porter's widow and daughter, both named Elizabeth, continued te
live In the house throughout the 1l8th century. A male relative
oversaw the farm entil 1770, when the younger Ellzabeth marcied
Charles Phelps, who moved in and took over its operation. Phelps was
an asbitiocus man and although he did not officlally purchase it from
nis mother-in-law until 1794, he immedlately began to enlazrge the
estate and make extensive alterations to the house and farm.

Phelps would certainly have wanted a home that reflected his
gising status in the town. Although not formally educated, Charles
Phelps became a prominent lawyer and politiclan. He served as town
selectman, Justice of the Peace, and zepresentative to the
Massachusetts General Court. By the 17908, he was & very wealthy
man, amsong the highest tax payers in MHadley. Through his frequent
teips to Boston, Charles Phelps would have been well aware of the
latest fashlons In architecture and he was anxious to try them out on
his own house. According to family tradition, he was & self taught
axchitect and had a atrong influence on the appearance his home took
on. It is known for certaln that hils son, Moses Porter Phelps (who
later changed his name to Charles Porter Phelps) had knowledge of the
architectural practice and helped his father with the deaigns.

Among the f£irst additions was the 1771 construction of a kitchen
ell off the west side of the house. In 1782, a large barn was bullt
$9 the south. (Photograph $) The chalse house itself was added In
1795 between the house and barm. (Plan 1)



In 1797, the chalse house was connected to the main house by a long
Federal style ell, containing a farm kitchen, cheese oom, woodshed,
Granezy, and work sheds. {Photograph 2) The resulting complex would
played an intezesting contrast between the dazk zusticated

pave dis
nouse and white, Federal style ell. However, this existed only until
1799, when axtensive changes were made to the maln house. At this
time, the gambrel roof was added, the exterlorx clapboarded, and
everhang concealed, The front entrance was replaced by 4 Federal
style door and deorlic columned portice. Throughout the 17808 and 903,
the Intericr of the house was also remcdelled with Ceorglan and
Federal woodwork.* By the time of his death in 1814, Phelps had

created a large and tashionable house and a model farm on an eatate

of almoat 1000 acres.
pan and Elizabeth Phelps Wuatinaqton

Two years after Charles Phelps’ death, daughter, Elizabeth
Phelps Huntington zeturned to NHadley wilth her husband Reverend Dan
Huntington and nine children (two more we:e bora in the house). They
lived with Elizabeth Porter Phelps until her death in 1317, when the
Huatingtoms inherited the house and farm. The second Phelps child,
Charles (Moses) Porter Phelps, chose to bulld a home for hisselt
across the zoad, on his share of the estate. A clergyman and teacher
at heart, Dan Huntington was & less ambitlous farmer, than Phelps had
been. By the middle of the 19th ceatury, the estate was reduced to
84 actes.* Due to the family's slze and lower Income, few changes

were made to the house during Dan and Elizabeth's occupancy.



Prederic pan funtington

of the eleven Huntington childzen, it was the youngest, Prederic
Dan, who joved the family homestead most. Before hils father's death
in 1864, he purchased his brother's and sister's shares of the big
nouse, so that he would Inherit it outright, However, his career as
an Eplscopal minister in Boston and later Bishop In Syracuse, allowed
Frederic Dan to spend only the summer months in Madley. He kept the
farm active, overseeling much of the the work himself. During the
wintezr, the farm was operated Dy a caretaker, for whom a cottage was
ballt in the 1870s. Throughout the late 19th century, the house was
8 popular summer spot for Frederlic Dan Muntingtom's childcen and
grandchildren, who all spent a week or two there each year.

Ceorge Putnam Hontington, Frederlic Dan's eldest son, never had a
chance to Inherit the house, however. Father and son dled,
colncidentally, on the same day In July of 1904, The farm in Hadley
was Inherited jointly by George's six children.

Helrs of George Putnam Huntington

The Deat use of the estate was uncertain at this time. Ouring
the 1910s, 1t was zun as a dalry farm Dy the eldest of the childcen,
Henry Barrett Huntimgteoen. However, by 1920, this operation had
Ceased and the family had tized of the less than modern facilitles
ovallable in the house. It was decided that improvenents showld be
made to create a nice summer home for mother, Lilly Barrett
Hontington. In 1921, repairs were made and bathrooms imstalled In
the 014 house.” However, after Lilly's death In 1926, the future of

the estate was again in guestion,



James Limcoln Nuntington

the middle son, James Lincolm Huntington, was the most devoted
the old house and fascinated by the family history. He dedicated his
later 1ife to thelr preservation, while residing In the Chalse House,
which he hed rebullt im 1930. An understanding of his life and
career, is an impoztant part of the Chalse House's historical
context,

Born in Malden, Massachusetts,. in 1880, James Lincoln Wuntington
grew up In Boston, Ashland, Massachusetts, and Hanover, :

New Hampshize. He gradeated from Dartmouth in z’&: and went on to
Harvard Medical School, which he completed in 1%07. In 1910, Or.
Husatington began his Bostom practice of obstetrics and gynecology.
He went on to serve on the astaffs of the Boaton Clty Hosplital, the
fNoaton Lying-im MHospital, the Harvard Medical School, and the
Cambrldge Hospital, eventually becoming head of the obatetrical
department of Moumt Auburms Nosplital, in 1921.¢

In June of 1911, James Lincoln Huntington macrried Sacah
Higginson Plerce of Broockline. They had two sons, Benjamin Linceln
Huntington and John Migginson Huntinmgton. The family lived In
Boaston's Back Bay, making occasional summer trips to the old family
homestead in Hadley.

Jases Huntington's Interest in the old house grew, however, and
during the 19208 hia tripa there became more and more frequent. At
the time, the ol4 house was being used as & summer home by his
®other, Lilly Muntington, with visits by the various siblings
througheut the season. After her death, the children continued to

spend tise there each summer, but James Decame the most frequent
visitor,
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By 1924, he was spending almost every summer weekend there, as
well a3 any weeks he ¢could break away from his medical practice in
soston. During that year, James oversaw the reconstructlion of the
sheds between the woodshed and chalse house, These had Deen standing
since 1797 and were about ready collapse. 1In 1929, 1t was decided
that James Lincoin Wuntington should become the primary owne: of the
old nouse and facm. He bought cut the interests of Paul, Barrett,
and Catharine, and reached an agreement with Constant and Frederic.*
They would have lifelong interests in the property, but James would
have primary use of it and would make most of the decislions about its
future.

In the late 19208, there were atill a few livestock on the farm
and & caretaker was certalnly needed to watch over the house, fllled
with valuable antigues. Thus, when the caretaker's cottage burned in
1929, there was an lmmedlate need for a new one. [t was declded that
the 1795 chalse house should be torn down and a caretaker's residence
bollt in lta place.

During the demolition, many other farm bulldings were removed
fxom the slte. The hen house and cormcrib were torn down, along with
the icehouse, bull pen, and cow barn.* 8y the apring of 1930, el
the cutdbulldings had been reduced to lumber, The desiced result waa
that the new Chalse House posses a fine view of the Nolyocke Mountain
Range to the south! * One of the most drastic changes Dz. Huntingtonm
Bade to the grounds was the zemoval of the great 1782 barn, during

the fall of 1929. This was transported to the center of town, where

It still stands toeday as the Hadley Varm Museum.



pr., James Lincoln Huntington was quite typical of early '
pzolctvatlonlses. Although he was extremely sensitive In the
conservation of early materials in the cld house, Be waz much less so t
in regard to the farm bulldings around it. Instead of restoring the
sheds and chalse house to keep the original saterial intact, he chose
to tear them down completely and rebulld. He did maintaln the
massing and lines of the originals and reused a good desl of the old
timbers, but mach of the Integzity of the farm complex was lost.,
Typical of his time, Dr. Humtimgton connidered the main house and the
antigues it contained to be moat important and his resources were
greatly depleted by his work on them. The expense of restorxing the
dilapidated faram bulldings could not be justified, at the tine,
because they were thought to be leas interesting and of 1ittle
historical value, Although some veatiges of the originals may be
found iIn the resulting structures, they sust now be viewed as
products of their own time and as examples of the work of an early
20th century presexvationist. For this they hold thelr own valuable
place In the history of the Porter-Phelps-Huntington House.

After the reconstruction of the Chalse Nouvse, James Lincoln
Huntingten spent increasing amounts of time in Hadley and by the mid
13403, he had decided to make it his permanent home. Me began giving
tours of the house and searching for funds %o preserve It permanently
45 & museum. Unfortunately, he was unsuccessful in this guest and In
1955, came very close to selling the house. At this time, however,
Concerned friends and nelghbors came to the reacue with money to form
the Porter-Phelps-Muntington Foundation. Dr. Muntington donated the
house and {ts comtents to them, but comtinued te own and occupy the
Chalse House, until his death in 1968. Today, the Foundation works

to preserve the museun complex and opens It for tours esch summer.

i



charles Phelps’ cazziage house was ralsed on May 18, 179%.°
Mcording to @ Hadley tax valuation of 1798, Phelps owned at least
one chalse and would have regulzed a place to house 1t, as well as
nis numerous horses.® The resulting structure exhibited the Federal
style features Phelps must have seen on his trips to eastezn
Massachusetts. He wished to copy one building in pazticular; the
parn of Judge Theophilus Parsons of Newburyport, with whom his son,
Moses (Charles) Porter Phelps was living and studying. On December
31, 1794, Charles Phelps wrote his son of his intentlon to bulld, "I
wish you would send me the dimensions of Mr, Parson's barn as 1
expect to bulld asomething of the kind early In the spring ~ and 1}
think Mr. Parson's pleases me better than any I have seen -~ you will
not omit the helight and width of the chalse room."2®

The detached cacrrlage house was located between the house and
barn. (Photographs % & 6) Exhibiting Federal style design features,
It was two storles high, three dDays wide and twe deep. Photographs
from the early 20th century shed light onm the chalse house's criginal
dppearance. The maln entrance was a segmental arch surrounding a
sliding door. Two smaller boaxd and batten doors flanked each side,
The three windows across the second floor contalned shutters, but no
9iass can be seen in the photographs. These 40 show one lazge 18
Paned window on the south elevation, which may or may not be
@riginal. (Photograph €) There was also one small window in the
94ble of the north wall. Photographs of the rear elevatlion show a
d00r near the north cormer and one open window Iin the center of the

flrse floox. (Photogeaph 7)

13



Three sides of the carriage house were originally clapboardeq,
with the leas visible zear sheathed in rough unpainted boacds, Some
of these boards exiast teday oa the 0ld4 house, In the west gable of
the north ell, over the stoop, where they were reused in 1932,.M
garly 20th century photographs show the east and north sildes of the
cazrlage house covered in clapboards, which may always have been
painted white. (Photographs 6§ &4 8) The south end, which was largely
nidden by the barn, appears to have been sheathed In rougher
gnpainted clapboards.>® (Photograph €) It ls impossible to know, now
that the original chaise house ls gone, whether this is the initial
configuration. It is guite possible that the southern clapboazda are
the earllest and that the other sldes were redone at a later time.
Mowever, those on the north elevation of the chalse house do appesc
to date from first comstruction. When the sheds were bullt off of
it, probably in 1797, these clapboards were left In place but
enclosed with in the shed. A 1928 photograph, taken when the sheds
wetre torn down, clearly shows no break between those clapboards that
were within the shed and those that were exposed onm the outside,
(Photograph 8} Thus it seems eovident that the north slde of the
chalse house was never reclapboarded after the adjoining shed was
constrected, The photograph also shows that the clapboards on the
front match those on the nozth In size and shape, thus they may well
be crigimal too.*? The 179% roof was prebably of riven wood
shingles. By the 1920s, photographs show that these had been
feplaced with asphalt shingles and rolled roofing.

12




cnazles Phelps Bullt his carrlage house with typical 1sep
centuzy constructlion techniques, as can be seen In the reused timbers
that exlist today within the cellar and 1iving room of the Chalse
Mowse., Some of the largest were hand hewn, but much of the wood
displays the vertical marks of a waterpowered saw. (Photographs 9%-13)
The sawmill was located about one mile north of the house, and
Chazles Phelps owned a share of it. Other timbers now In the cellar,
which dlsplay the marks of a circular saw, must be from later repalrs
to the building, and cannot date earlier than the 1820s-40as. The
original beams possess slightly different dimenslions, but all measure
gfoughly mime by nine, nine by eleven, or ten by ten inches. Jolst
pockets on these membexs are spaced 34 3/4 Inches apart. Many of the
mortise and tenons would have been held together with wooden pegs and
the holes for these can be seen in some of the reused timbers.
Although cut nails were coming into use, this 1795 structuze was
undoubtedly bullt with hand wrought nalls. There was no cellar or
foundation under the carriage house, The rear was supported on
stlits, creating open space underneath £or the storage of manure or

farm equipment. (Photograph 7)

A3 there are no photographs of the Interior, i1ts conflguration
remains usmknewn, A single stall from the Phelps carrrliage house does
Survive. (Photographs 14-17) It (s now relocated in the 1782 Phelps
bazn, which serves as the Hadley Farm Museum. It ls not clear how
Bany of these stalls existed Inltially, but this one gives an ldea of
WRAt they must have looked like. The existing materials are not all
©riginal however, and when the stall was moved, arcund 1930, 1t was

feconstrocted with wire nails and patched with moderm wood. RNorse
3talls were undoubtedly in frequent need of repalr.

13




raus the existing stall consists of materials from several peziods.

the maln timbers ace hand hewn, but boards exhibit both vertical and
elrcelar saw sarks. The originals were certalnly cot with a vertical
saw and appear to remain In place on the stall's front end. The
stall seasures seven feet two Inches high, seven feet ten inches

long, and tive feet two inches wide. [t includes a hayrack, which
appears to be original material and would have been filled from the
1oft above. The manger for gralm certalnly loocks to be original, as
well. In the attic over the Porter-Phelps-Nuntington House woodshed,
the floor i3 made up of numerous doors and old boards. Three small
doors near the top of the stalrs appear to have been stall doors and
could quite possidly have come from the original chalse house.
(Photograph 18) They were constructed with wrought nalls and hung on
two types of strap hinges. No comnclusion can be drawn for certaln,

as they could just as well have come from other farm buildings on the

aite, but they are Included here for the sake of documentation.
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Ia the £all of 1797, Chazlea Phelps continued his ilmsprovesments
to the fars bY constructing a long ell off the south side of his
nouse. The Pederal style facade of this one and a half story section

was based on the chailse house design. (Photograph 3) The ell may
well have acted to comnect the saln house to the chalse house and
create a sheltered farm yard, but whethet it filled the entire
streteh initially, is snknown. The addition cectalnly included the
corrent south kitchem, the woodshed and at least a portion of the
pxos;at Corn Barn. It may have been divided into as many as flve
sepacate work spaces. The first two sections mentloned, remaln
intact today and were covered in the 1988 historic structuze report.
these will be refered to here only as they relate to the other shed
spaces to which they were attached. Documenting the history of the
Corn Barn area betwesn the woodshed and Chalse House is the purpose
of this report. Because this section was later taken down and
rebullt In 1928, with modern construction and identical ailding and
reofing over the entire ares, its original structure cam only be
sursised from historlic photographs and by comparison with the
temalining woodshed and south kitchen.

Elizabeth Porter Phelps dates the erection of these sectlons in
her dlaty. On October 13, 1797, she writes, "Fryday - this day owr
woodhouse ralsed as far as the roof. Satt, finlshed.™ After & Elve
week construction period, she continues on Novesber 20th, "The
workmes finished worklng on out woodhouse etc. thls day."'* The wood
Bouse she refers to is almost certainly the present onme. (Photograph

§) The 1797 date coincides with the Federal style elements, as well

45 the sawn dimensional lumber used.
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r¢ is net clesr vy Blizabeth fails to mentlon the kitchen section.
perhaps 1ts bents had been ralsed a few days before or after and she
414 mot take time to record that event.*® It muat be noted that her
dlary s prief and lrregqular and certalinly leaves out more than it
iaclodes.

An examination of the framing of the south kitchen and woodshed
sections of the ell 1s Included in the Adams and Roy Historic
strocture Report. This reveals that their frames were Integral, with
the rafters evenly spaced and ldentical in slze and character through
both portions.**® That at least part of the Corn Barn area was
constructed In the same 1797 episode, 13 also indicated by the
existing structure. The scutherly bent of the woodshed is clearly
fdentical with the northerly beamt of the Corm Barn. (Photegraph 19)
1£f this was exposed as the exterlior south wall of the wood shed, some
evidence of earlier aiding would be visible. As there are no extra
nail holes or marks from siding, It Is clear that this area was never
an exterior wall. Pockets for the summer beams of the corn barn area
can alsc be seen, cut into the attic gizts of this wall. Further
evidence for the contemporanecus constructlion of the Corm Bactn is
that the ridge pole and rocf plates of the wood shed extend slightly
into the southern room. (Photograph 20 & 21) They appear to have
Been cut off at this point when the original corn barn was tornm
down. Y  These members projecting from the south bent of the
wocdshed can also be seen in 1928 photographs showing the democlition
in pregress. {(Photographs 22 4 23) Thus It Is evident that at least
8 Portion of the present Corn Barn area was bullt im 1797 aleng with
the woodshed and south kitchen.



whether the 1797 ell included the entire shed section may never

bo K as the earllez room divisions were obliterated in 1928,
M'" r

vhen the origimal thre
gnlikely that charles Phelps would have bullt Lt extending almost all

e rooms were comsbined into one. It seems

the way to the chalise house, but not guite making the connection.

Nowever, this pessibllity cannot be entirely ruled out, Rarly 20th
centusry photographs of the corm barn before reconstructlon, indicate
that the sheds may not have been all one continuous structuce. A
pre-1926 photograph (Photograph 24) of the rear (west) elevation of
the sheds shows two types of slding on the acea that ia now the Cora
Bazn. The siding on the northern sectlion 1is vertical, while that to
the scuth 1s horizontal. This may have beean due to different uses of
the two rooms. The northern area was probably wsed for the storage
of corn and graina, with open slits between the vertical siding
allowing for dryimg and ventilatien. A small portion of this
original siding can now be seen, where Lt was rehung In 13528, in the
space north of the Corm Barn door. (Photograph 25) The southern
sectlon of the sheds was covered on the rear with more weathertight
horizontal boarding, very similar to that on the chaise house next to
it. Another varlation canm be seen on the rear of the sheds, At the
point of change im siding, there is also a difference In the height
o0& the flcors and roof plates. The northern sectlion appeacs to line
Up with the weodshed beside it, but the scutherm end is clearly

different and canmot be pazt of the same Iintegral frame.
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The front (east) facade of the entize shed azes was sheathed in ,'
vertical poards. However, differences between the north and south
ends aze visible here, as well (Photograph 3). The roofing existing k
in the early 20th century is uniform acroas both sections, bet a ‘
bulge is apparent along with a slight difference in the ridge helight.
this seems to occur at the same place as the change In siding on the
zeaxr. A very slight break im the vertical sheathing on the fxont 1s
alse visible at this point. The difference in the shapes of the two
front shed doors may also be noticed., When reconstructed in 1928,
these were made to look more unlform. However, prior to this, the
southern arch was wider and flatter, while the northezn one was Rore
la keeping with those on the chalse house and woodshed, Agaln, this
could be the result of different functions, with a need f£o0r a wider
door, for the entrance of large farm vehicles inte the southern shed
area,

A definite conclusion about the contemporaneity of the sheds
cannot be drawn at this time, and perhaps may never be. However,
though it may seem illogical to us, 1t seems quite posaible that the
ell comnecting the house and chalse house was bullt In two phases.
In the fall of 1797, the kitchen, woodshed and northern half of the
present Corn Barn were certalmly ralised, but the filnal connectlon to

the chalse house may not have been made untll a later time.
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The existing woodshed and south kiltchen can be examined in order
te surmise the origlnal appearance and structucre of the other sheds
pallt in 1797, Wood reused later im restoration of the maln house
may also be studled. Although there was & cellar under the kitchen
ares, the sheds were bullt without a foundatlion. Like the chalae
house, thelr sills rested on the ground In front amd were supported
by posts in the rear (Photograph 24). These were originally umhewn
logs and were reinforced later, in some places, with granite slabs.

Similar to the chaise house of two years earller, most of the
sain framing members of the ell were hand hewn, while the studs,
raftezs, wind braces, and floor jolsts weze sawn dimensional
lusber.*® The rafters existing in the kitchen and woodshed today are
tenoned into a large hewn ridgepole of pentagonal cross sectlon.
(Photograph 26) Alternating raftezs ace also peqged into the
tldgepole by elght Inch long wooden pegs. Sawn wind braces provide
support between rafters and ridepole at several points.*®™ An
examination of the existing north wall of the Corn Barn (Photograph
19), reveals that it was alsc reinforced with rising and falling
braces at each corner. The glirts and corner poats are hand hewn,
while the studs are sawn, These atuds are not continuous, by span
only the distance between each glrt, into which they aze tenconed.

The framing was jolned by pegged mortise and tenons, along with hand
wreught nalls.

The present doorway from the Cors Barm to woodshed appears to be
oriqinal and its cutline can be seen in & 1928 photograph taken
during the shed's demolition. (Photograph 8) Salvaged boards from

the criqinal sheds can be seen ln the main house, where they were
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used to restore the west wall of the "plne coom.* *°

(photographs 27 & 28) The floor boards of the existing Corn Batn are
all reused from varlous parts of the origlnal structure. Those that
exhibit the marks of a cizcular saw must date from later zepairs or
perhaps from the later completion of the southern portion of the ell.
A similar contzast of vextical and cizrcular sawn boards ls visible in
the material reused as subflooring In the 19280 reconstruction of the
Corn Bars. This can be seen undex the southezn portiom of the sheds,
which was imcorporated into the cellar of the Chalse House in 1930.
Also visible there are somes structural timbers that must have been
reased from the original sheds when they were rebullt in 1928, Thense
inclode an unhewn post, which may well have been one of the supports
undez the rear of the sheds. (Photographs 58 & 39) An old menber,
reused as & summer beam under the new floor of the southern shed
azea, (Photograph 60) lends possible support to the i{dea that this
end of the ell was comstzucted later than the northern end. Cut by &
circular saw, this timber could mot date any earlier tham 1820. It
might represent & later repalr, but Lt seems unllkely that such a
large beam would nmeed replacement so0 soon. On the other hand, It may
enforce the possiblity that the southern end of the sheds was not
bailt In 1797, but was completed later, scmetime in the early %o aid
A%th century.

Clapboards existing on the kitchen's esast elevation appear to te
the wall's orlglinal covering. There Is no evidence of eariler slding
underneath them. Typlcal of the late 18th cemtury perlod, the
clapboards were sawn, 13 to 14 inches lomg, and attached by wrought
nails.®* although the other shed sections displayed different for=a
of 31ding origimally, it may be surmised that these were also water

Sawn and attached by wrought nails.
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The exterlor ginish on the woodshed section was replaced by Jases
Lincoln Hentington In 1938. According to before and atfter
photographs, he took no liberties with the original design,™ but the
old materials were lost. As previcusly discussed, the front of the
original corn barn area was sided with vertical boards with slits
petween them for alr circulatien. The rear of the sheds was covered
{a rough board sheathing. This wall was broken by only one window
asd one door, which must have been reached by ladder. (Photograph 24)
The rooms would have been lighted only by the open front doors and
slits in the siding.

The original uses of the shed rooms are unknownm, fhoy.dld
include three separate spaces, prior to the 1928 reconstructlionm, but
the location of dividing walls is unclear. It seems that the
northezn section, whlch was certainly bullt In 1797, was used for the
storage of grain, hence the name "Corn Barn." Support for the
existance of a granary in the space betwen the house and barn, la
alao lent by ancther family member in the early 20th century. She
says, "The sheds, carcriage houses, and granacry extended almoat to the
barn.®** This granary probably filled the entire area covered with
vertical sheathing on the rear. The other two rooms must have been
located in the southern portion of the sheds and may not date from
the same constructlos phase. Thelr uses are unknown, but probably
invelved the storage of equipment. Farm work may also have been done

there, whan foul weather prohibited work in the dooryard outside.
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These shed spaces were used continuously by the family, untiy
the winter of 1927-1928, when heavy snow proved too much for the
goof, Prior to thelr demolition and reconmstruction in 1928, the
sheds had seexlngly changed little since thelr comstruction. The
family probably saw repairs to these areas as less important thanm
those to other sections of the farm. The only mention of repaizs
found in the family papers, was in July of 1917, when the east root
of the woodshed and corn barn were been repaired and reshingled with
Nepcset Branmd green assphalt shingles.®* The rear of the sheds, along
with that of the chalse house, was covered with rolled asphalt
roofing prior te ita demclition. This material was not very durable
and this may have added to the detericcation of the shed'a conditlon.

When the time came that the sheds were In need of extensive repailr
and ceatoratlion, the Huntington family had already apent asc much
money on upkeep of the main house, that complete replacement of these

less important spaces seemed the only sollutlion.
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RECONSTRUCTION OF THE SHEDS, 1928

the sheds had been In poor conditlion for some time, but the anew
of the winter of 1927-28, was just too much for them.*® By the
beginning of October, 1928, Dr. Numtington recorded that they were
about ready to fall. He stated, "We must do somethling to replace or
rather restore them."** However, his idea of restozation was guite
difterent from that of today and by October 19, the sheds had been
demolished. They were indeed completely razed, with nothing left
standing between the southecly bent of the woodshed and the north
wall of the chaise house. (Photographs 8, 22, 23, & 29) As
previously discussed, the ridgepcle and plates of the 1797 structure
were sawn off below the south bent of the wocdahed to allow for the

demolition.

Dr. Huntington's friend and local handyman, McCrath, was in

Charqge of the shed's reconstruction.®” According to Huntington, the

new structure was to follow the original lines and disensions with
absolute accuracy and Involve the reuse of somes materlial.®® The
resulting character of the Cozn Barn is Indeed qulte almilar to the
original. Hewever, it was bullt using meders balloon frame
construction methods and combined Into one open room.

By October 26, the cement foundations £or the new sheds had been

lald.** The front a1l sat flush with the ground, with am open crawl

SPace below, The rear slll was supported by & brick covered
foundation, (Photograph 33) The structure was bullt lacgely of
®odern materials. A few old timbers were used for support in the
Cellarx, (Photographs 58-60) The floor boards and subflooring under
them were also made up of 0ld wood, which appears to have been
salvaged from a variety of places Ln the orliginal sheds.

23



All other mesbers, Including sills, jolsts, studs, rafters, and
rocfing, were new in 1928, (Photographs 34-36)

the zear (west) elevation of the Corn Barn was sheathed in
clapboards, instead of the earlier rough boarding. This wall was
broken by three small six pane windows, reqularly spaced across the
tacade. (Photogeraph 33) (This configuration was later altered with
the conversion of the Chalse House.) The front elevation of the new
Corn Barn was sided with vertical boards, which were similar to the
originals, but sllightly wider. (Photographs J0-32) To the north of
the northern door, Ox. Nuntington placed a portion of the origlinal
aiding. (Photograph 25) However, It was reattached with wizre nalls
typical of the 1920a. The two 3liding doors were ceplicated with
sodern materials. The southern arch was made somewhat narrower for
symmetry. (Photogqraph 30)

The interlor of the mew Corn Barn was left unfinished with its
Eraming exposed. This new shed continued to serve for storage and
work space, although little or ne farming was done on the site by
this time. The scuthezn portion of the sheds was Incorporated into
the Chalse Nouse when It was reconstructed as a residence in 1930
(this will be dicussed In the following section). Later, Or.
Hustingtom wused the Corn Barn as & reception area for museum vialters

and he hoped one day to make it Into an auditorium.
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CONVERSION OF THE CHAISE WOUSE, 1929-30

in Januaczy of 1923, the caretaker's cottage that had stood neat
the Porter-Phelps-Huntington House since the 18703, burned to the
ground.®® As the old 1752 house was not winterized by mcdexn
standacrds, Dr. Huntington was immedlately in need of a new residence
for a caretaker and a place for his family to stay on visits in the
colder montha. At first, It seemed that the exiating chaise house
could be renovated into such a resldence. However, in July, when the
actchitect and bullder came to study the structure and draw up the
initial set of plana, it became apparent that the sills were too
rotten and the walls completely ocut of plumd.

James Lincolm Huntington declded that the old building would
have to be entirely torn down and a new house, wilth a cellar
underneath, constructed In its place. He claimed that all sound
lunber would be salvaged and reused and that the new bullding would
follow the lines and dimensions of 1795 exactly.”™ He also hoped to
show a lot of the old materials and structure exposed.

Dz. Wuntington d1d succeed in these messures, but in the end, 4id not
mach preserve the old carrlage house atmosphere. The resulting
Chaise House, fills the place of the original, but looks to be sisply

4 second resldence, ia the atyle typlcal of the Colonlal Revival

period. All image of the original farm bullding is gone completely.
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The architect for the new Chalse House was Or. Muntimgton's old
¢zlend Ellot T. Putnam of 7) Newbury Street In Boston. Lecal
puilders, Pomeroy and McGrath carried out the project.®® By August
of 1929, the original chaise house had been denclished, with all

sound material salvaged.®” During the same month a cellar was dug

for the new toundation.®* 1In September, Putmam was in Madley drawing
nis second set of plans for the new house. (Plans -8)

The resulting structure is certalnly a typical part of the
colonial Revival movement. It does not reflect any particular model,
but includes a mixture of elements of several older architectural
styles. The floor plan is basically that of a central hallway, late
Gecrglan home, There are chimneys at each end of the house, but the
southern one Is set back towards the rear of the house, creating a
siightly atypical arzangement. To the xight of the hallway are the

dining room and kitchen, with onme larger parlor or living room on the

left. At the back of the hall, behind the stairxs, Dr. Muntington

bullt a closet and & safe to house the cold famlly manuscrlipts.

Upstairs, there were originally two chanmbers on each side of the

hall, with a modern Dathzoom at the top of the stalrs. The Chalse

Mouse, as designed by Putnam, included not only the volume of the
original carriage house, but also expanded Into the south weat corner

©f the shed beside 1t. (Plans 2<)) This allowed for a second

bathroom and closet spaces at the north end of the second floor and a

laundzy room off of the kitchen. Dr. Huntington's oxiginal plan was

to provide a cottage for a caretaker, along with & living room and

two bedrooms for his own family to use, when the old house was
Cloged,
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7he exterior of the Chalse House Is covered in white palnted

clapboards, attached by wire nalls. (Photographs 37-40) As 1t has

been since 1930, the roof is of asphalt shingles. An exception is

the portion of painted tin roof over the northerm bathroom. The

twelve-over~twelve windows sre flanked by movable louvred shutters.
0ff the north west corner of the house 1s a small porch, which was
originally entered by a door from the laundry room. (Photograph 41)
The expansion of the house into the shed deside it Caused an

alteration te the rear of the sheds as they had been rebullt in 1528.

(Plan &) The roof of the scuthern end was ralsed, one of the three

shed windows removed, and the bay covered by the back porch.

(Photograph 40) The front entry of the sheds remained the same, with

the southern axch as an entranmce into a atorage acea veatibdule, which

led Into the laundrcy room behind. This ares was partitioned off from

the Corn Barn with particle board and a newer, smoother £loor was
laid in the entry.

inside the Chalne House, the decorative detalls are o mix of
Georglan and Federal style elements, along with a good deal of 20th

century mass produced millwork, (Plan 0) The front doorway almply

reflects the Federal style, as does the door 1t surrounds.

(Photegzaphs 42-43) The stalrway, on the other hand,

is essentially
Geocrgian in derivation.

(Photogzaphs 44-46) The living room

tireplace wall displays Georgian type panelling, while the other
walls are covered in ralsed panel walnscotting, with plaster above.
(Photogeaphs €7-49) The living reom i3 also decorated by exposed
frasing, wnlch appeacs to have been reused from the original
Structure and staimed dack te match the panellimg.

(Fuzther

dlscussion of this feature will follew.) The halluway displeys almple

Boazae walmscotting, with a molded chalr rall above.
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Aleng 1ts southern wall aze canings, which cover the timbecs
extending through the wall from the liviag zoem. The fireplace in
the dining room is Federal im derivation and the walls adorned by a
simple baseboard and Federal type cornice moulding. I1dentical
baseboards rum throughout the other rooms of the house, including the
kitchen., A thlrd flreplace, located In the south west chamber is
also of the Fedezal atyle. Nome of this decorative woodwork 1s
teused. It comsists of 20th centucy materlals, with appllied moldings
attached with wire nails., The four panel doors and
twelve~over-twelve windows of the house are also 19J0 mans produced
millwerk. (Photographs 51-52) The wocdwork of the Chalse House
reflects nelther the orlginal appeazance of the cacrrlage house or ot
the maln 1752 house beside 1t. It sust have been chosen by Dr.
Hentington slmply for its “"colonlal®™ style elementa. This type of
woodwork would have been widely avallable In 1930, due to the
popularity of the Colonial Revival.

On the cther hand, much of the hardware In the Chaise Mouse is
teused. Many of the latches are cextalinly old and provide a flne
view of a variety of Norfolk and Sulfolk latches. The N-L hinges
tEhroughout the house appear almost too "rustic” and may well be
feproductions. The strap hinges of the front door do appear to be
old, however. All hardware is attached with screws and lmmltation
WECUGht nalls. None of it was original to the Porter-Phelpa-
Nuntington House, however. It was purchased by James Huntington, in
1929, at an auction in Gilbertville, Massachusetts.?®

Dr. Huntington may have desired the Chalse Kouse %o reflect the
0xiginal in size and shape, but he Aid mot chose to use the older
POBL and beam comstruction techalgues. There ls no exposed or cased
framing in the house, except where it was reused in the living toom
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as a decorative detall. The existing walls certalnly do not appear
wide encegh te enclose heavy framing timbers within them either. The
Chaise House is certalaly of balloon frame construction. MHowever,
there was no opportunity to view the Interlor structure of the house,
during this investigation. Due to the placement of the sill and
subflocring, the structure can not be seen by looking up fzom the
cellar. Neither is there access to the small attic crawl space above
the house. Some old structural timbers were reused In new locations
in the Chaise House, but it is belleved that the maln structure is of
sodern materliala. In the future, if the opportunity to view the
interlor structure acises, the Porter-Phelps~Nuntington House staft
should exanine and make note of constructlonm techniques and
materlials.

A cellar was dug under the entire Chalse House and the concrete
floored foundation was poured to Imclude the portion under the shed
beside It. The front and zear sides of the foundation are concrete
with brick above, while the rear wall Is entirely of brick, The
2ills of the Chalse Mcouse are msade wp of numerous salvaged timbers,
pleced togethezr. The summer beams and posts are also of wood reused
fxom the original chalse house. These have all been placed In new
contiquations and the original function of each member has not been
determined. Floor joliats under the Chalse house date from 1%)0, as
does the beaded board subflocring. (Photograph 61) The cellar and
ftoundatlon run continuously under the Chalise House and the shed area
Attached to 1t, whlceh housed the laundry room, etc. HKowever, a
divisicn between the two areas can be observed in the framing above,
The structure of the shed portlion appears to date from 1928, when It

Was recomstructed. It sppears that when this portion of the shed was
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sade part of the Chaise House in 19)0, the structure above was teft
intact, but & new foundation lald under this ares, uniting it with
the cellar of the Chalse House.

A good deal of wood was indeed salvaged, and can be found reused
throughout the mew Chalse Mouse. The hallway and living room flocrs,
as well as the stalr treads, are of wide yellow pine boards, which
sust have made up the floors of the carriage house. Older nall holes
can be seen ln these and when they were reattached, wire nalls were
often placed thraugh the holes. (Photographs 53-54) The floorxs
througheut the other rooms of the Chalse House were lald inm new
narrow boazds of pine on the ll;lt floor 0;4 and cak on the second.
As previously discussed, old beama where cut up and used as vertical
supports in the cellar. (Photographs 9-1)) The greatest amount of
original materlial may be seen where 1t was reused In the Chalse MNouae
1iving room. (Photogrephs 55-57) It appears that the qirts and
joists might posibly be LIn thelr basic origlinal conflguration.
Kowever, the wall studs have been left out and the corner posts made
fzrom timbers that were horlzontal membezs cciginmally., It seems
unlikely that the size and ahape of thls living room represents a
room in the orlginal carrliage house. The Jolsts may well have deen
longer and filled a wider span. It i3 difficult to see inside the
Jolst pockets, but it locks as If the joists may have been sawn to a
shorter length and new notches cut into them when the room was
teinstalled. Regularly spaced nail holes ace visible on the
undersides of the jolst. It seems doubtful that thece was any sort
of ceiling finish, covering the jolsts in the original chalse houae.
The pattern of naill holes actually looks very similar to that seen in
the reused floor boards. Perhaps the Jolsts were turned upside down

when they were reinstalled.
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Tais would have been possible 1f the jolats were indeed shortened asd
new tenons cut in them to £t into the Jolat pockats. At any rate,
pefore the framing of the living room was recomstructed, the timbers
were cleaned, refinished, and stalned a dark brown to match the
panelling and walnscotting of the room. Carpenter's Marks are found
along the glrts at every Jolst and stud pocketa. It 1s unusual to
£ind s0 many such marks on a single member and these appear
susplciously clear and legible. They could be orlginal to the 1795
construction of the chalse house, as similar, but less clear marks
sppeat on other reused timbers in the cellar. However, Dr.
Huntington must have had them cleaned up and made more prominent when
the house was crebullt. He may even have gone so far as to add more
marks than appeared originally, to make the framing of the room more
rustic., The current exposed beams In the llving are for decorative
purposes only. They are not an actual representation of the
structure of the 1930 Chalse House. Dr. Huntington made an attespt
to show some of the original framing of the chalse house, but in
altering it and combining it with Ceorglan style panelling, very
1ittle of the original carrlage house feeling was preserved.

The actual constructlion process las not documented in Or.
Huntington's journal, as he was absent during the winter of 1929-30,
while It was progresaing. In early February, Ellot Putnam drew up
the final plans. When Dr. Huntington returmed at the end of Mazch,
the new house was almost ready to be plastered.®* By May, Lt was
nesring completion, with carpenters, plumbers, and painters all at
WOrk.** Finally, in August, the azea behind the house was graded and
terraced to make a lawn and gaxden.”® The actual cost of the project
i3 unknows, but a blll from Putnam In September of 1930, cited the
total cost to date as 13,113 doliazo.”
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JAMES LINCOLN HUNTINGTON'S OCCUPANCY OF THE CHAISE HOUSE

pe. Huntington and his family, along with thelir two malds,
Mollie and Helen, spent the entire summer of 19J0 in Hadley, while
the new Chaise Nouse was being completed. As before, they passed the
war=er months in the old house, with James travelling back and forth
to Doston as his medical practice demanded. He would receive a call
that a patlent was about to delive:z, and would rush right off te
Poatos, no matter the time of day, or alght, though often he arrived
too late.

In the fall, James Huntingtom began his fregquent stays in the
Chalse Mouse, coming out to Hadley every weekend until December, then
ressming this practice the following March. During the summer of
1931, James and Sally Nuntingtonm apent every weekend In Hadley, while
theiz son, John, was able to enjoy his entire summer vacation there
with one of his school chums. They oversaw and carefully documented
the laying out and planting of the sunken garden in the foundation of.
the old barn. (Photographs 62-63) Inm the fall, trees and hedges were
planted along the front of the new house.** The family followed a
similar schedule in 1932. They continued to spend the warm months In
the o014 house and used a portiom of the Chaise House when 1t was
colder. Caretakers reslded In the Chalse House and oversaw the
estate. Except for Anna and Albext Pollit who lived there during the
Summer of 1932, the names of those who filled thia position are
lorgely unrecorded.** From 1933 on, Dr. Huntington was able to live
In Madley for the entire summer and then every possible weekend
through the winter. Nis wife Sally joined him frequently, but often
drove cut separately. He continued his Boston obstetrical practice,

BAkIng many trips back and forth.
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{n March of 1336, Hadley was visited by one of the worst filoeds
{a its history. The Connecticut River rose up over the flelds, uati]
there were 18 Inches of water im the Chalse Mouse. On Mazch 20th
James Huntington came through the door In & row boat and stepped ocut
onto the third step of the fromt stairs.*” After the flocd, the
Chaise House rzequired extenalive cleanlng and a complete overhaul of
the heating system.** Two years later in the fall of 1938, a major
herricane caused a flood that reached the top of the cellar staics
sand the front step of the Chalse Mouse. (Photograph 6€4)

As the years went on, Sally Huntington spent less and less time
in Hadley with her husband, while he was there more and more. Dr.
Muntington later stated that by 1937, he was passing sost of his time
in Hadley, where he had payed poll taxes and voted since 1931.** In
1938, he began to take on occaslonal medical canses thete.** JQuite
popular with his patlients, Dr. Muntinmgton's practice grew rapidly.

By 1940 he had offices In Hadley and Northampton and was the
consulting obatetrician at Cooley Dickinson Hospital.*” He continued
to see patlents in Boaton, too, and spent a great deal of time on the
road. Dr, Numtimgton enjoyed driving and thought little of
travelling back and forth ln one day, which was no easy feat in 1940,
Two years later, however, he gave up his Bostonm practice, and the
following year, moved permanently to the Chalse House. Sally 4id not
share his love for Hadley or his passion to preserve the old family
home, 50 she zemalnmed in the ¢ity and the two were dlvorced la June

Oof 1944, 9¢
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James Lincoln Huntington was not alone in the Chaise Mouse tor
long. On December 29 of the same year, he was marcied te Agnes
Genevieve Keefe, with whom he had been friends for several years. 1t j
seens they had the house to themselves, as all farming had ceased, by
this time, and caretakers wexe no longer needed.

Mcording to Genevieve, no repalrs or lmprovements had Deen sade

———

to the Chaise House since its comstructliom., MNowever, this scon
changed and between 1945 and 1950, all rcoms were palnted and
papered.** In October of 1347, Lewls Roy painted the kitchen and
laundry room for 146 dollars.®® Nost of the painting was done by
Lafleur Brothers of Northampton. They worked in the Chalse House In
January and Febroacy of 1947.%** Then in April of 1949, they palnted
the living room walls and ceiling. Later that year, the west bedroom
was painted and papered, as was the hall woodwork and Dr.
Hustington's den.** To make the house more weather tight, new storm
doors and windows were also Inatalled and in 1945, insulation was
blown into the walls by HMancock Imsulatlion Company of Boston.™”
Further improvements Included & new Glbson refridgerator and the
carpeting of the front stalrs in January of 1946. Later that year, a
congoleum rug was Installed in an unknown location.®* More linoleum
was lald, In the kitchen, in the spring of 1949.%* A large cedar
iined closet was installed in the north east bedroonm, during 1947.
Throughout the 19403, a J.F. Pelllisler acted as the Huntington's
handyman and carpenter. All plumbing was done by Leland Sanders of

Hadley, and Parson's Electric of Northampton handled the electricel
L-14 L



James Huntington's financial rescurces began to dwindle with hin
expenditures OR the old house and the construction of the new Chalae
gouse, Throughout the 19403, he continued hils local medical !
practice, making only occaislonal trips back to Boston. He also
worked for the Red Cross in their Northampton office. All spare time ‘
was spent researching, maintaining, and glving tours of the old k
fanily home. His wvife, Genevieve shared hils pasalion for hiatory, to :
some deqree, and helped him in his quest for the preseczvation of the
porter-Phelps-Nuntington House. She alsc continued her job at New
gngland Telephone, in Amherst, where she had been employed before her
marriage.

The Hentisgtons were able to have the rear of the sheds and
Chalse House painted In 19%).*" However, by the mid 1950s, they had
run iate severe finascial trouble asd the future of the Porter-
Phelps-Mustington House was at stake. Or. Huntington had tried agailn
and again to £ind a benefactor for the old house, but there was
1itele interest In the home of this only slightly famous famlly, &t a
time when buildings were valued mainly for thelr associations with
\llustrious persons of events. In the spring of 1955, James wrote %o
his sister that 1f no outside money had come in by fall, they would
be forced to begin selling off the contents of the old house and the
Chalse House.

James and Genevieve decided that they would have to put the
Chalse House up for rent, to gain some additlonal Lncome, They spent
the summer of 1955 in the old house and then In the fall, took a room
In Northaspton. The Chalse House was rented to three officers trom
the nearby Westover Alr Force Base.®® Rough plans were drawn up for
AN apartment for the Huntingtons In the south kitchen of the old

house, but these were mot carried out.®®
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Inatead, it was decided to make am apartment out of a portien of
the Chalse House. That way, the Nuntingtons could still live in the
pouse, but rent out the larger part of it. The apartment was to take
up the shed portion of the Chalse house, as well as the two northezn
pedrooms on the second flcox. (Plans 2 & 3) Constzuction was
anderway by the late summer of 19%%. The laundry room was converted
to a kitchen, with the original doorway between it and the old
xiltchen plastered over. The door from the laundry room to the porch
was also closed up and & new one cut from the Chaise House kitchen,
s0 that the tenants would have use of the porch. New Anderson
windows were imstalled in both kitchens.*® The apartment was to have
a llving room on the east alde of the second floor and Dx. Huntinmgtonm
could occasionally use this as & medical office. The north west
chamber was to be the Humtimgton's bedroom. The apartment would alse
inclode the north west cornexr bathroom.** The entrance to the
apacztment would be through the vestibule behind the south shed door
ond into the kitchen. A second set of stalrs was cut to the cellar
from just outslde thl: kitchen door. The house and apartment would
share a common basement, along with a furnace (Photograph 68), water
Beater, and Incinmerator. By October of 1955, constzuction was
essentially complete, but painting, plumbing, electrical wiring, and
roofing where still to be dome.** In early November, Pacscn's
Electric of Noxthaspton wized the apactment and inatalled a new
Thermador gas range.*? The Huntingtons moved Into the apaztment in

Rid November, although it had no running water and was yet to be
Palnted o«
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Rental of the Chalse House brought some additional Lncome to the
Huntingtons, bet they would still mot have bBeen able to BUPPOLE the
old mouse, had not friends and nelghbors come to Its rescue. 1In
1955, the porter-Phelps~Kuntington Foundation was formed to take over
operation of the house museun. The following year, James Lincoln
Nuntington donated the old house and grounds to the Foundation., He
was to be curator for life and Genevieve could alsc f£Lll the
position, 1t she 80 dealred. The Huntingtons were Lo have uase of the
old house and yards, so long as it 4id not interfere with museum
tours.** Or. Huntlngton continued to hold the title to the Chalse
House and Corm Barm, along with the strip of land rumning from the
street, through them, and on down to the river.

The fomily's financial troubles were alleviated to some degree,
bet Cenevieve had gqrown tired of James' obsession with the ¢ld house
and family history. In 1956, ahe went to work at Mount Holyoke
College, 1living there on campus, In South Nadley.** Dr. Muntington
atayed on in the apartment and continued to rent out the Chalise
House. The Alr Force officers realded there for several years.

Then in 1958, Gezald and Regina Fitzgerald moved in to what would be
thelr home for the next 26 years.** Dr., Huntington made some
improvenents for his tenants, as well as teo his own apartment.
Apparently, Genevieve still spent some time there with him, as he
wrote to his sister im 1957, "Our living room (Genevieve's bedroom)
is mighty attractive with the gay hanglings, fresh paint and paper,
and rugs to match, and best of all our book cases are now filled with
By books."** The book cases he refers to were installed Im the north
*ast chasber and have since been removed. Other improvesments

included the painting of the cellar walla white and £lcox red,
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as well as the renovation of the kitchen and bathrooma in the Chalse
House.*® The existing kitchen cablinets appear to date from this
time. (Photograph 65) This may alsc have been when the closet and
safe ares at the rear of the front hall was divided and a new
pathroom installed., With one of the original Chaise Nouse bathzooms
given over to the apartment, there would have been a need for
another. The fixtuzes in both bathrooms, along with the tormica
vanity upstalers, certainly look to date from the 1950s.

puring the sazly 19603, James Huntington was In and out of the
hospital for varlous aliments. When at home, he employed a woman
named Florence to cook and clean for him. In 1961, he decided to
deed the Corm Barm to the Porter-Phelps-Huntingten Foundatlion, along
with the plece of lamnd rumning through it. This would reduce his own
property taxes and allow him to pay for only one thizxd of the summer
upkeep of the museum grounds, rather than the half he had previously
been covering. Me retalmed ownership of the Chalse House, the sunken
garden, and the land around it, however. The Foundatlon could not
own this while It was used as a rental property, or thelr tax exempt
status would be affected.”™ The transfer of property was achlieved by
November of 1962.7* At the same time, Dr. Humtingtom began making
tentative plans to renmovate the Corn Barn. He hoped to convert it
into an assembly room, with two windows and a French deor, leading to
the back lawn, In the rear wall, and a fireplace and new chimney In
the north wall, There would also be new restrooms neacrby, for museum
visitors.** The plan progressed little until a year later, when
Carpenter, Matty O'Connor came to make 4n estimate.”® It must have
been too high for the Foundation, as the plan was never carried ocut

4nd no mention has been made of it alnce,
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A few improvemants were made to the Chalse House during the mid
19608, Im 196), the exterlior was painted."* Wall to wall carpeting
was installed 1n every room, but the kitchen, in 1963.7" The
following spring, Dr. Huntingtom decided te make the ante-room
outside the apartment weatherproof. Ne sealed the aliding door and
cut a new hinged door In it, trying to change the ocutwazd appearance
as little as pcasible.™® (Photograph 31)

Through 196%, Dr. Muntington centlimued to glve tours of the
paseun, handled memberships and dues, and spent time cleaning and
rearranging fucraltuce in the old house. However, his health was
falling rapidly. 1In 1945, Genevieve returned to the apartment in
order to better care for him.””™ The beglinnlng of 1966, found James
in the Xane Nursing Nome In Asherat. By Marxch he was back in MHadley
puttering around the old house, but in May he was forced to give up
all work at the museum completely and return to the nursing home
permanently. James Lincols Huntington dlied theze on May %, 1968,

His wife, Genevieve, had returned to Mount Holyoke College in
1967, but she retained possession of the Chaise House and continued
O 9se the apartment for vacations. Sosetine during the 1970s, she
moved to Florida, but d4ld come dack to Hadley often for the susaer.
The Fitzgeralds lived on in the Chalise House, thzough the 1970s and
4Qteed to aplit the cost of repalrs and lmprovements with Genevieve.
The house and apactment were still comnected by a doorway In the
Upstalrs hall and oftes when Cenevieve was away, the Fltzgezald's

uUsed her apaztment as guest bedrooms.
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peginning in 1970, the two southern bedrooms, the hall, and

dining zoom |}
tollowing year, the Fitzgeralds constructed a bullt-In book case in

n the Chalse Nouse were all painted and papered. The

the south west bedroom. B8y 1972, the Chalse House was experiencing
vater in the cellar, every time it rained. Cenevieve had the walls
sealed and blacktop lald outside the house along the east and south
sides of the foundation. Durimng the year, the celilings of the !
pedrocms and hallways were also painted for the tenants and, at their
own expense, the Fitzgeralds inatalled a new sink and formica
counters im their kitchea. In 1973, the west side of the Chaise
House roof reguired repalr. The cellings that had been painted In
1972 were already peeling badly, se¢ In 1974, new “beaver board"”
ceilings were imstalled below the cld omes. Leakage inte the cellar
continsed and in 1975, the bulkhead was rebullt and the foundation
partially sealed again. More painting occurred in the »nid 70s. The
spartment bathzoom was painted and wallpapered in 1976. Then the
following year, the aspartment kitchen, astalrs, and upper hall celling
were palnted. Im the Chalse House, a bedroom, the living room,
dining room, and the kitchen, along with the hall celling were done
as well. Later, wallpape:r was removed from the hall walls and the
floors were sanded and painted. The back porch was also in need of
Tepalr and |t was jJacked up and new supports put under.”*®

In September of 1977, Cenevieve Huntington was married, in
Florlda, to Viadimir Stelnmetz. Mccording to James Lincoln
Numtington's will, the Chaise Mouse was %o revert to the

Porter-Phelps-Kuntington Poundatlom upon Oenevieve's death or
Tesarriage.
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THE CHAISE HOUSE UNDER THE PORTER-PHELPS~-HUNTINGTON FOUNDATION

thus in 1977, the Porter-Phelps-Huntington Foundatlion came to
own the entire complex of bulldings, including the Chalse House and
Cozn Barn and the land surrounding them.

The Fitzgeralds continued to rent the Chalse House, until 1984.
The apartment next door was in need of improvements and during the
summer of 1978, two students from Hampshite College lived there,
doing work in exchange for their reamt. This involved covering over
the upstairs door between the Chalise NHouse hall and the apartment.
The door was left intact on the Chalse MHouse alde, but plastezed cver
in the apartment. A new wall was constructed between the two areas,
on the second floor, with insulation for socunmd proofing. In the
apartment, the hallway partition was removed to make the west bedroom
larger. Flooring from & closet was used to fill in the space where
the wall had been. The bullt-in book cases were also removed from
the east apartment bedrocm. Wall-Tex, probably from the 1935
converslon, was pulled down Inm the apartment kitchen. Finally, the
entize apartment was palinted white, Current occupant, James Boylan,
moved Into the apartment in the fall of 1979,

In October of 1984, Porter-Phelps-Huntington House Curator,
Susan Llsk, took up residence In the Chaise Wouse. Some lmprovements
had been made during September, including removal of a cupboard and
counter unit from the morth east corner of the kitchen. Linoleum was
removed from the kitches £loors, to reveal thin pine boards
undetneath. The floors of the dinlng room were also redecne. The
work then continued from October, 1984 to February of 1985. The
halls, which had previously bDeen white with *Willlamaburg blue®
woodwerk, were painted & cream colox. The bathrooms were also
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wallpapered and repainted. Wallpaper and a dropped celling were
installed in the east bedroom. No other cepalizs weze made to the
interior of the Chalse House, untlil the summer of 1987, when the west
pedroom, which had Deen cream colored, was painted salmon pink, with
oft-white trim.”"

Under the Porter-Phelpa~-Huntington Foundation, & number of
repalizs have been made to the roofs of the Chalse House and Coxn
Barn. The rear (west) alde of the Corn Barn roof was redone In
asphalt shingles 1n June of 1982. The fromt of the Corn Barn was
roofed in cedar shingles in May of 1986, replacing asphalt shingles
chat had been brittle and curling. In Jume 198), the south west
corner of the Chalse House roof, was redone in asphalt. According %o
the contractor, this was the first rercofing since the house's 1530
construction. The original was badly In need of replacement with
many missing shingles, so that only the felt paper prevented major
leakage. In 1986, the tin cocf over the apartment bathroom, was
repainted with aluminum fiber coof paint.**

On Sunday June 5, 1989, a fire occurred in the Chalse House. It
started In the north west corner of the basement on a4 ledge between
the foundation and sill., The major beams were charred and the corner
of the kiltchen floor burned through. A fire wall, consisting of a
thick plece of wood across the cavity between the atuds, about a foot
and a half up the first floor wall, probably stopped the fire from
spreading. Sericus smoke damage occuzred throughout the Chalae House
and water used on the fire in the basement caused a few inches of
fleoding. The electrical wiring burned and sections of the copper
Plpes burst. Little damage occurzed In the apactment, except where
the fire fighters were forced to break down the gxont door to get In.
Repalrs will be dlscussed ln the followiag section of this geport.*>
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EXISTING CONDITIONS

gtructure, Foundations, and Chismeys
gtructurally, the Chalse Mouse appears to be in good conditien,

Examination of timbers in the Dasesment reveals no indlcation of rot,
soids, or insects., Certainly some minor settiing has occurred, but
these are no sagging flooxrs or walls out of plumd. The Corn Bazn ia
now strecturally sound, following repalr of the froat sill In 19486,
when the rotten portiom of the original sill was removed and a new
tisber pleced In.®* At the same time, the faulty gutter, which had
caused mach of the damage, was repaized zB nllcvl.to-tutotc problems.

the mechanical systess operate smoothly, for the most part. The
Chalse House and apartment were rewired after the fire in 1988. Many
of the copper plumbing plipes were also replaced.®? The 1330 eoil
burning furnace, f£zom the Unlted States Radlator Corxporation,
operates properly, although It ls prodably not the most fuel
effilclent heating aystem avallable. (Photograph 68) Continuing to
rent a hot water heater 1= not the most economical approach for the
Foundatlion, elther, but Iis not a serious problem. MNeat detectors
were inatalled in all roomas and closets in 19735, as were three
sdditional asscke detectors, 1n 1987.

It 1s not known when work was last done on the foundations and
chimneys of the Chalse House or Corn Barn, but there has certainly
not been any since at least 1978, The rear brick foundatlion of the
Corn Batn asppears im good condition. There is about one imch of
tising damp visible and & bit of moas growing, Indicating sooe
mcisture, The dirt crawl space under the Corn Barm is certainly damp

with water rising from the ground and draining in from faulty
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downspouts. These cool, dark, and damp condlitions are sot causing
serious prodblems, At present, but 40 not contribute to the longevity
of the sills and subflooring of the structure, and have proven te be
sources of trouble ia the past,

Along the rear foundation of the Chalse House, solluable salts
are visible indlcating water in the bricks, about two inches up. At
the corner of the foundation and bulkhead, moss can be seen qrowing
up to a foot above the ground. (Photograph €7) This represents a
falzly severe molsture problesm. As the land does slope awvay trom the
foundation, this must be caused by groundwater rising, along with
backaplash and leakage from the damaged gutter above. The seasonal
floods thet often come cight up behind the Chalae House and £11l the
cellar with water, are seemingly unavolidable causes of water damage.
In the spring of 1984, there were two and a half to three feet of
water in the cellar and the water pressuce caused gaps to open up in
the masonty of the foundation walls.®*

The noxth chimney of the Chalse Mouse appears to be In falr
condition and no serious leakage has occurred, though the flashing
could use replacement. The flashing around the south chimney is not
in good shape either. Mere there are also several loose bricks at
the top of the stack and this is probadbly allowing water to penetrate
down into the bricks below. Serious leakage has occurred aroumnd the

Scuth chimney (Photographs 69 & 71) and it requires immedlate
attention.
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Exteclior
the exterior of the Chalse House Is badly in need of work, The

entize mosecn complex was painted early 1a the 1980s, but this was
done poorly with little preparation, It is thought that there was
almost mo scraping or sandimg at all done to the Chalse House.**

The older paint underneath has now falled so completely that severe
peeling has occurzed. A great deal of bare wood i3 exposed and the
clapboards are now splitting and cracking and many may need
replacesent when the bullding is finally painted. The problem is
particulazly bad over doors and windows, where there is no flashing
for protection. The window slills are In poor condition, due to water
damage and rot. The windows on the first floor are out of plumb from
the settling of the house, 30 the storms do mot fit properly and are
not enerqQy efficlent. The wire nalls that hold the clapboazds ace
tuaty and the lron oxlde has badly stalned the Chalse House exterlor.
The louvried shutters are beginning to crack and the applied moldings
are talling apart. This is agaln caused by exposure due to the lack
of palat. Peeling palnt and water damage %0 clapboards and are most
severe on the rear elevation of the Chalse House, whete a leaking
Jutter has caused great probless. (Photograph 66)

The porch off the north west corner of the house is also badly
in need of repalr. (Photograph 41) It appears to be structucally
Scund, but a great deal of exposed wood needs replacing. There is &
Great deal of rotten wood, due to exposure from lack of paimt. The
asphalt roct is in poor comdition, with many cracked and aplitting
shingles. There are glass windows that could be put on the screen

POICh In the winter, but these no longer £1t, as the frame is 30 out
of line.
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Roofing and Gutters

In the fall of 1988, some caulking was done te patch the Chatlse
Mouse roof. However, the entire rcof is badly in need of
replacement. The shingles on the east side are brittle, with sany
broken edges. Even the scuth west corner of the roof, which was
redone in 1983, 1a in need of work, due to tree limba rubbing agalnst
i1t. The asphalt shingles put on the west side of the Corn Barn in
1982, oxe in good condition still. The cedar shingles on the east
slde are only three years old and, of course, are In very good
condition. Some slight warping and 1ifting ia beginning to occur,
but this should mot be a problem for quite some time., The flashing
around the north chimmey appears to be zipped and must be teplaced.

The alusinum gqutters and downspouts on.the Chalse Wouse and Corn
Bacn are generally iIn falz comdition, baut they do need cleaning
badly, as many ace completely full of debris., Other problem spots
include the copper gutter along the rear of the Chaise Kouse, which
13 full of holes and leaks badly. One of the downspouts bekind the
apartment i3 sguashed closed and needs a new bottos piece. The
wooden gutter along the front of the Corm Barn is in goed condition,
having been crepaired in 1986, but needs to be cleaned of mildew and
painted, 30 the wood will not decay. The downspout om the fromt of
the Corm Barn passes under the bullding in a plpe and empties out
behind it, However, behind the Corn Barn, the land slopes 1n towards

the foundation, so the water flows down around P
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Chalse House Interior

tme intexior of the Chaise House i3 Lla excellent conditlien,
following repalrs after the 19538 flire. The hallway has tecently been
repainted and floors refinlshed. The only problem here 1s & leak In
the ceiling upstalrs, in frxomt of the eaat bedroom dcor. (Photograph
70) This must be caused by leakage through the zoof and attic, down
to this spot, MNowever, as the attic area ls Inaccessible, the exact
caused could not be determined.

The living room floors were redone in 1984 and are In very good
condition, The plaster walls were repainted early in 1%89. Thece
is, however, & problem with the woodwork in this room, particularly
in the fireplace wall., Here, the applled, nalled on moldings arxe
warping and separating from the panels. This is ceztalnly due to
water damage. There is & severe problem with leakage around this
south chimney. In the celllng of the living room, in front of the
chimney, other water damage can De seen. (Photogzaph 71)

The dining room is in excellent condition, as it was
wallpapezed, painted and the floors refinished with polyeurethane,
during the winter of 19%88. Prior t¢ the palinting, damage was visibie
In the ceiling, from the leakage of a radlator above. This had
caused the celling to peel constantly and a numsber of old repaizs
weze visible. Whether the leaking 13 a current problem, may soon be

apparent again.
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the Chalse House kitchen was most severly damaged By the fire.
During the winter of 1988, It was repainted and the floors
polyeurethaned. A layer of white wall tex, probably from the 19%0s,
was found usder the top layer of paint and removed. The molding
arousd the tops of the cupboards needed replacing, but one that
satched the orliglnal exactly could not be found. Repalrs were also
sade to the baseboards and walls !n the north west cormer of the
room, where £fire damage had occurred. The kitchen cellling had been
painted many times, mostly In white, but there was one layer of 1light
green. The ceiling was in bad condlition, so In 1980 & new plaster
board cne was installed below the previous one, which lowered the
celling about three gquarters of an inch.

The first flooxr bathzoom was prodably installed In the 1950s,
The fixtures date from that time and are In very good condition,
Kowever, leakage from the sink and radlator has caused severe damage
to the lincleum and probably the £loor boarda underneath.

The second floor bathroom displays a similar problem, this time
with leakage arcund the dath tub and tollet. The llnoleum ls severly
damaged and the floor under it is rotting.

The Chalse House bedzooms are in very good condition. The scuth
east room needs no attention. However, In the south west room,
leakage around the scuth chimney has agaln caused damage. (Photograph
6%) Water damage to the plaster can be seen In the ceiling in front
Of the tireplace. The hearth stone has alsc aplit and ls separating.
This might indicate that Lts supports are shifting with water

Penetration atcund the chimney.



Apartment Inter for
Aside from the work done in 1978, little change has cccurred In

the apactment since 1ts conversion in 1955. Although It ia
structurally sound, the apartment ls badly In need of coametic
repalrs to make it a more pleasant living space. The ten year old
paint is peeling severly la all areas. The floors are worn and could
ese refinishing. The black and white marbellized 1inoleun in the
gitchen i3 quite worn and stained. The 1955 stove and refridgerator
aze outdated, as well as being physically unattractive. The bathroom
contains fixtures, which must date from the 13930 comstruction of the
Chalse House. These are in falr condition and could be retalned.
There i3 & serxlious leakage problem visible in the celling over the
kitchen sink, which sust be caused by the radlator above. A failr

asount of damage has occurzed to the wood and plaster In this area.

Corn Barn Interlor

There 1s no rot or leakage visible in the Corn Bacn, though
there may be some molsture problems In the crawl space below. That
the front afll requized replacing in 1986, indicates thia
possiblliity. The floor sags slightly im the center, but is not a
sexious prodlem. The £lcor of this space i3 rough and uneven, due %o
fhe variety of reused boards., Some danage has been done to the

bottea of the 3liding dooz, as raln water splashes undex it.
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RECONNENDATIONS FOR CONSERVATION

There are a number of conservation measures, which must soen be
taken by the Porter-Phelps-NHuntington Foundation, 1f the Chalse House
and Corn Barn are to be preserved for the future. Some of these
measuzes are required to -llntaia the atructures of the bulldings.
Others ate simply cosmetic lmprovements, but these are also Important
because the Chalse House and Corn Barn are Just as vialble to
visitors, as the museum house itself. Recommendations will be given

hete lan order of relative lmportance and urgency.

The first action that must be takenm is purely philosophical. It
is very impocrtant that the Porter-Phelps-Huntington Foundation come
to reallize that the Chalse House and Corm Barn are valuable portions
of the museum complex and are worthy of preservation. They are
izportant as the work and heme of museum founder, DOr., James Lincoln
Nuntington and aiso in containing vestiges of the origimal l8th
century faxm structuzes. Certainly, the Foundation cannot put as
moch affort Into maintalning these bulldings, as they do in the
ériginal 1752 house, MHowever, It is vital that the comnected
structures be preserved to some extent. Because they are indeed a
part of the museum complex, any future work done to the Chaise House
and Corn Barm should be documented as part of the archival records.
These structures ahould be treated as historic buildings and the
Policy to repalr rather than replace should be adopted whenever
Possible. It has been suggested that some day, the Chalse House
RIght Become a4 museum itself, but this seems to be an lssue for the
ROre distamt fyture, At present it is teo valuable as a rental unit

4nd home for the curator.
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One of the most urgent conservation measures, whlch must be
taken very soon, is the palnting of the Chalse House exterior. The
exposure of bare woed to the elements, has lead to the decay of the
clapboards. Many of them will already need to be replaced. Portions
of the wood in the window sills and surzounds will also require
repalrs., Flashing should then be placed over all windows and doora
to allow for better runoff and protection of the woed. While the
work is proceeding, It Is lmportant that close attention de pald, to
insure that it is done adeguately. Money is always a concern, but no
expense should be spared in hiring a competent and tcuatworthy
professional to do the jJob. The existing layer of paint must be
thorosghly scraped and sanded. This should mot be a difficult
project, as much of it is already cracking and falling cff. In the
process, the stains from rusted nails will be removed and fresh paint
should prevent further ruating. At least two coats of paint must be
applied to lnsure full protection of the wood below. The shutters
should also be repaired and palnted along with the walls. The
condition of the Corn Barn exterlor is not as severe, but It could
certainly use painting, so that similar problems will mot occur.
Palnting the Corm Barn and apartment doors will help stop waterx
Gamage to thelr bottom areas.

Repair of the Chalse Wouse roof must also be a high prilerity.
This should involve removal of the old roof, mot Just covering it
over. Tyvak should be used instead of tar paper, as It is
Impermeable to water, but allows water vapor to pass out. White
cedar shingles treated with fungicide and fire retardant would be
best for the longevity of the roof. These shingles would give an

SPPearance appropriate to the orlginal 1795 date of the chaise house.
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However, whem the current structure was erected In 1930, asphalt
shingles would have been used. Im this sitvation, the best approach
would be to malntaln the house to its 1930s condlition. Thus high
quality ssphalt shingles should be used, When roofing is complete,
nearby tree branmches should be cut back so they will not continse %o
gub against the house.

Repalrs to the chimneys and flashing are also very lmportant.
when the roofing 1s done, flashing should be placed around both
chimneys and also along the valley where the Chalse House meets the
shed, The chimmeys must be repointed and any miasing bricks
teplaced. Chimney caps would help prevent moisture entering the
chisney stack, but these must be well ventilated. (It these are not
installed, the tops of the chimneys should be covered with flashing,
to prevent water penetcatiag into the bricks.

Leakage arcund the south chimney and through parta of the roof,
has caused a falr amount of damage to the Chalse House Interiorx,
After the faulty elements are repaired, this must alsc be dealt with.
The celiling In the south weat chamber has been damaged and some
patching of the plaster and lathe will De necessary. Cracking of the
hearth may isdicate problems with 1ts supports and this should be
turther examined. Leakage around the south chimney has also caused
problems in the living room. A small area of the celling will need
to be replastered and repalrs to the lathe may be required., The
panelling of the flreplace wall can be fixed, at this point, simply
by reattaching the moldings to the pamels. A portion of the celling
in the ypstalrs hall will also need to be repaired. Leakage through
the dining room ceiling should be monitored and if it continues, the

Source located and repalred,
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Leaking bathroom fixtures should also be repalred and damage to
the fleors and possibly the subflooring In both Chalse Mouse
bathrooms must be attended to, before new limeleum 1s laid,

Cleaning the gutters would be a relatively lnexpenalve project,
which would have extremely beneficlal resvlits, However, this must bde
done zegularly to keep the gutters and downspouts free of debris,
This will greatly decrease future water damage to the exterior
clapboards and foundations, as faulty caln water dlsposal is the most

common cause of masonry deterloration. The gutter on the tear of the

Chalse House should be replaced, alomg with the bottom of the rear

Corn Barn downspout.

Molature problems In the foundations should alsc be dealt with,
Portions must be cepolnted to prevent water from enterimg cracks LIn
the sortar. Rising damp cound be slowed by leading czuncff facther
away from the foundatlion and reqrading the ground around 1t.
Existing efflourescence can be removed from the bBricks by a simple
acrubbing or if mecessary, murlatic acld could be used. Moas should
be killed with an hezbicide. Several attempta have beon made, in the

past, to seal the Chalse House foundatlion, However, a nonporous seal

is not a beneficlal repaic, 83 water may penetrate through cracks and
then become trapped underneath the seal. A lime wash is better for
waterprocfing, because it allows for quick runcff and absorbs
atmospheric impecities. Little can be done to prevent perlodic
£looding of the Conmecticut River into the Chalse House cellar, but
proper cleaning amd ventllation should be carried out Immediately

tollowing, to prevent water from remalning trapped In the masonry.
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SO T T T

The back porch is an integral part of the Chalse House and
should be preserved. This must be attended to in the near future,
pefore It I3 beyond repair. Rotten portions of wood should be
replaced, the whole atructure thoroughly palnted, and the roof
reshingled.

Cosmetic repalirs to the interlior of the apaztment are vital, if
only to provide more pleasant living quarters for the tenmant. All
sooms ace badly in need of painting and some of the floors also
grequire attentlion., A new stove and refrldgerator would not only be
more attractive, but might also prove safer and more enexgy
efficlent. The leaking radlator over the kitchem sink must be
repalred or replaced and, undoubtedly, the plaster celling will need

patching.

it is vital that the Portez-Phelps-Huntington Foundatlion begin
to recognize the lmportance of the Chalse House and Corm Barn
bulldings and work towsrds thelr preservation as & paczt of thias
wonderful museum complex. Every day, the 1930s are becoming more and
sore a part of the historical past and before long, the exiasting
Chalse House will be of as much Intezest as the oriqginal 18th cemtury
strecture would have been. In this day end age, the Porter-Phelps-
Muntimgton FPoundation, must not repeat the situatlon of the eaczly
20th cemtury, by allowing portioms of the Corn Bazn and Chalse Houne
agals to deteriorate beyond repaiz. Actlon must be takea soon to
preserve the fabric of these structures for the historians of future

Qenecations,
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NOTES ON SOURCES

A number of primary soucces were used extenslively in thia
investigation. A thorough examimatlion of all relevant family
paterials, in seaxch of architectural Infermation, was undertaken by
the author of thls report 1n the winter of 1987-80, This was done iIn
cenjunction with the historic structure report belng done by Adams
and Roy, Consultants. Information about the chalse house and sheds
found at that time, has formed the basis ftor the current Chalse House
report, with the addition of a much more thorough reading of early
20th century materials. All primary sources are found In the Porter~
Phelps-Huntington Famlly Papers, which are housed In the Anherst
Cellege Archives, Frost Library, Amherat, Massachusetts. A Dbrlef
description and reference to location of each source follows:

Elizabeth Poxter Phelps" Diary, Box 8. This was kept falthfully from
1766 to 1812, It includes malnly religlous and soclal concerns,
but contalins occasiocnal zeferences to constructlion work on the
house and farm. These are useful In dating conatructlion perlods
snd have formed the bdasis for what is known about the
history of the Porter-Phelps-Huntington House.

Chaczles Phelps, Jr. Papers, Box 4. Outgoling correspondence to his
son Moses (Charles) Porter Phelps contalns some mention of work
on the house. His legal arnd financial records contaim nothing
relating to comstruction.

James Lincoln Huntisgton Journals, Noxes 80a, #0b, and 21. These
journals and scrapbooks were kept by Dr. Muntingtom at the house
in Kadley. They are extremely valuable in documenting his work
on the maln house, as well as reconstruction of the Corn Barn
and Chalse House. They also shed some light on what life Iin the
Chalse House was like after its reconstrzuction. The many
anapshots mounted in the journals are also very useful.

James Lincoln Huntingtom, Correspondence-cutgoing, Box €5,
Letters to his brothers and sister contaln occasional
references to hias plans for the Chalse Kouse.

James Lincoln Muntingtom, Fimancial Papers, Boxes 77-79.
Receipts and check books provide some information about noney
spent on the Chalse House and sheds in the 1930s~50s.

Agnes Genevieve Keefe Nuntington, Cozrrespondence, Box 87,
Outgoing correspondence documents life In the Chalse Mouse and
apartment in the 19%0s and 60sa.

"Forty Acres® Photographs, Box 144. These include a nusber of
exterior views of the Chaise House and Corn Bazn, some of which
Were reproduced for this repozt. These provided visual
Information about the condition and structure of the bulldings

In the early 20th century, before they were taken down and
Tebalilt,

Architectural Drawings, Box 176. These include blueprints for the
Chalse Mouase recomstruction, drawn by Ellot Putmam, 1929-1930.
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Several secondary SOUrcCes were also employed in this project. These
include the tollowing:

Mistorlc structucre Report of the Porter-Phelps-Huntington House,
Hadley, Maasachusetts, by Adams and Roy, Consultants, 1988,
this imcluded a study of the museunm house, farm kitchen and wood
shed, but did not address the reconstructed Corn Barn and Chalse
Nouse. It provided useful information about the history of the
sain house. The structural description of the kitchen and wood
shed were particularly valuable in determining the original
construction of the adjoining sheds. A copy of this zepoxt ia
available In the Amherat College Archives,

porter Phelps Huntington Femily Papers Finding Ald, prepacred by
Kari Ann Federer, 1988. A £inding aid to the Family Papers in
the Amherst College Axchives. This incluedes biographical
sketches of each family membez, as well as descriptions and
locations of each of thelr papers.

Nentington, James Lincoln. Eexty Acres, the 2torxy of the Blahop
Kuptington House. Mestimgs House, New York, 1549. This book
contalns much infeormation about the family history. The
architectural history of the house has aince been proven
slightly inaccurate. Mowever, Dr. Huntington's descriptionm of
hls reconatructlion of the sheds and Chalse House was very
valuable for this report.

Sessions, Ruth Gregson Huntington. glxty Od4d. Stephen Daye Press,
Brattlebore, Vermont, 1936, This recounts Ruth's life in the
howse during the 18608 and 70s. As little work was done on the
house during these yearsa, the book includes only a few
teferences of interest to architectural historlans.

Moch of the information about the fanlly hilatory is duplicated in a
number of sources and ia worklng knowledge of the author, thus it is
not footnoted. ¥For further information about the history of the
Porter, Phelps, and Huntington families, researchers may consult the
above sources, as well as the family papers in the Anherst College
Archives. The Porter-Phelps-Huntington House Museum is opan for
tours in the afternoon, from mid May to mid October (closed Thursdays
and ¥Fridays).

The Porter-Phelpa-Muntington Foundation, Inc. may be contacted at:
130 River Drive, Hadley, Massachusetts, 01035. (413) S84-4699.
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Fhotograph 7
¥eat (rear) elevation of the chalase house, taken prior to 1926.
From Box 144, Folder 12.
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Viev looking south vest of vood shed and nosth elevation of chalse
house., Taken October 1928, after dumolition of sheds.

From James Linceln Runtington Joutnal, page 04.



B . . . B B B BB BB BB B B B B B B e e






—— — — TN AR Them T R TR TR TR TN TS T W W S~

Photograph 14
Front and slde ot

» stall

Hadley Farm Museun.

token fzom the chalse

house,

Photegqraph 15

Front end of chalse

housne atall,

ahoving hay rack.

new In the



Photograph 17
=

ar of chalse

house

stall.



Photograph 18
Possibdble atall doora, found In tt:

Forter-Phelps-Hantingtor Nouse woo



COINn

BAID,

teduilit in

iNntact

Yyhen

the ateucture



Photographs 20 and 21
North end of Corn Barn roof, shoving
through from the vood shed.

sriginal ridge pole extending




Photoqraph 22
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Corn Barn., Taken
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Photoqgraph J)
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‘hotograph 39

~081an Mouse, socth and vest elevations, L9849

Fhotograph 40
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Photcqgraphs 42 and 42

Chalse Mouse front d¢
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Photoqraph &0
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Photogzaph 70

: Collilng of upatalza hallvay of Chalpe Nouse.
cauned by leakage down from Ehe attic, probably due to fTalluze
in the ‘roofing.
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